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In support of plaintiff’s Demand and Notice of Disqualification for Cause, plaintiff submits this Statement of Disqualification and Exhibits.

A. Judge Nugent Discriminated Against Plaintiff In Violation of the Americans  

   With Disabilities Act, Rule of Court 989.3 and Cal. Gvt. Code § 12926.1.

1. On August 4, 2003 and August 15, 2003 plaintiff timely filed  complaints against Judges Nugent and Weber, reserving her right to challenge Judge Nugent under § 170.6, pending the outcome of Presiding Judge Richard

E. L. Strauss’ Investigation.  Plaintiff's complaints documented Judge     Nugent’s violation of Local Court Rules Against Bias, Rule of Court 989.3 and Canon 3(B)(5) and (6), in addition to Judge Weber's "rubber stamp" defense of Judge Nugent. (Exhibits No. 1 & 2)  Judge Strauss refused to investigate or cause Plaintiff's complaints to be investigated.  (Exhibit No. 3)

2. On October 31, 2003, plaintiff submitted her Request Form for Accommodation by Persons with Disabilities, pursuant to Rule of Court 989.3 to Judge Nugent.  (Exhibit No. 4)

3. On November 4, 2003, Judge Nugent denied plaintiff’s request for accommodation “without prejudice,” by checking a box on the form and adding handwritten comments, respectively stating, i.e.:

a. “The applicant does not satisfy the requirements of the rule…”  (box checked)

b. “Failure to Specify Accommodation Required!”  (handwritten comment)

4. The Request Form provides less than one (1") inch of space to "specify" type of accommodation, special requests and anticipated problems,

5. Judge Nugent's denial of plaintiff's request due to failure to comply with Rule 989.3 requirement of specificity is a "Catch-22."  The form precludes specificity, providing a pretext for repeated wrongful denials.  The applicant's only remedy is a writ petition to the Appeals Court within a ten (10) day period, which In Pro Per disabled applicants are unable to do on a one-time basis, much less on a continuous basis.

6. Moreover, the Appeals Court to which plaintiff must apply does not offer accommodations pursuant to ADA/Rule 989.3 on its website.  Each time a Superior Court judge denies a request for accommodation, the disabled litigant must pay a $655.00 filing fee, i.e., a "court tax" which is analogous to a "poll tax."  Plaintiff finds no California case law in which a judge or a court has been required to pay fees, when the decision has been reversed by a Writ Petition to an Appeals Court.  If allowed to continue, Judge Nugent's repetitive discrimination will result in the formation of a profit center in the Appeals Court budget.  The ADA prohibits the court's financial charges for accommodations required the under the Act.  It is unconscionable and illegal that Rule 989.3 requires writ review for denial of an ADA request by Judges.  The burden is on the Judges to prove that they cannot reasonably accommodate requests.

7. The Americans with Disabilities Act, Title II prohibits denial of a Request for Accommodations on the pretext that "the applicant does not satisfy the requirements of the Rule."  Rule 989.3 provides a procedure to permit judges' denials of requests for accommodation by every disabled litigant in California pursuant to an illegal pretext.

a. Rule 989.3 states that the applicant must “describe,” not “specify.”  The Judicial Council’s Form MC-410 conflicts with Rule of Court 989.3.  An applicant's description of accommodation does not need to meet an individual judge's undisclosed criteria to comply with "specification" requirements that are not permitted under Rule 989.3 and ADA.  The ADA does not require disabled persons to be mind readers.

b. Rule 989.3 provides for no other oral and written procedure to request accommodation in addition to Form MC-410, which is submitted only to judges.  Rule 989.3 does not provide disabled litigants oral and written procedures to request accommodations from court staff for modification of services, such as standing in long lines to file papers at the clerk's counter. 

c. Rule 989.3 and Form MC-410 are a scheme designed and intended to facilitate, not eradicate, discrimination by the Judicial Council of California.  Judges enjoy absolute immunity for all judicial acts.  By directing all requests for accommodation under Rule 989.3 to judges, judges and the court are able to avoid scrutiny and liability for discriminatory acts.  However, Rule of Court 989.3 is an administrative act that permits ex parte communication that does not involve the substance of a case.  Additionally, administrative actions pursuant to the ADA do not provide judges/Court such immunity.

d.  “…When state rules conflict with statutes, it is the state rule that must give way, “(Iverson v. Superior Court (1985) Cal.App.3d 544, 547-548.), striking down Rule 317(a) of the California Rules of Court. 

8. Judge Nugent violated California Government Code 12926.1 which states in sections (a) and (e) that:

a. (a) “The law of this state in the area of disabilities provides protection independent from those in the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (Public Law 101-336)…”

b. (e) “The Legislation affirms the importance of the interactive process (emphasis supplied)… in determining a reasonable accommodation…" 

9. The burden is on Judge Nugent to engage in the “interactive process,” as plaintiff requested on the request form.  He determined that plaintiff had not complied with his undisclosed criteria to satisfy Form MC-410 requirements that themselves are in conflict with federal and state law. 

10. Judge Nugent’s denial of plaintiff’s request is blatant coercion and retaliation for her filing two complaints against him with Presiding Judge Richard E.L. Strauss on August 4 and August 15, 2003 regarding prejudice, bias, discrimination, and ethics. 

a. Judge Nugent in his own handwriting denied plaintiff’s accommodation request “without prejudice,” implying that he has the judicial authority to deny future requests “with prejudice."  His action confirms that he is prejudiced against all disabled persons by illegally exercising judicial authority to intimidate disabled persons from exercising their civil rights and to retaliate against disabled persons who resist his coercion.  

b. The ADA prohibits coercion and retaliation against disabled persons   

for exercising their rights.  The burden is on Judge Nugent to justify his actions, once plaintiff has established a prima facie case.  Judge Nugent’s refusal to interact with plaintiff and denial of accommodation constitute discriminatory animus, which is confirmed by undisputed facts and is reinforced by overwhelming direct and circumstantial evidence.

c. Presiding Judge Strauss is willfully blind to bias, prejudice, coercion, retaliation, and discrimination in violation of his own local court rules and the policies of the Judicial Council of California, of which he is a voting member and which establishes “Fairness and Access” policies for all California courts.

d. Judge Nugent’s refusal to engage in the ADA’s interactive process to determine how plaintiff could ever satisfy his undisclosed criteria regarding specificity constitutes substantial circumstantial evidence that making satisfactory requests to him is a futile endeavor.

e. Plaintiff’s disclosure of her impairments requiring Judge Nugent’s accommodation (i.e., polio, intractable pain and osteoporosis) supports approval of her broad request and extensive engagement in the ADA interactive process.  Judge Nugent knows that plaintiff’s disabilities preclude her submission of a different request for each required accommodation without extraordinary and unnecessary effort.  Failure to accommodate also serves his nefarious purpose of dismissing plaintiff’s underlying Constitutional claims in her litigation with prejudice, as his past rulings confirm are his intention and as defendants seek to do in their Initial Case Management Statement.

f. Judge Nugent is an experienced jurist who has been educated by the Administrative Office of the Court in the ADA compliance.  Plaintiff has provided substantial direct and circumstantial evidence that he has intentionally subjected an in Pro Per Plaintiff with severe disabilities to unconscionable coercion and retaliation for exercising her civil rights. 

g. “When the plaintiff offers direct evidence of discriminatory motive, a triable issue as to the actual motivation is created even if the evidence is not substantial…”  (Stegall v Citadel Broadcasting, U.S. 9th Circuit, No. 02-35399, December 2, 2003, p.16928) 

h. “…the ADA contains a catchall phrase prohibiting all discrimination [emphasis supplied] by a public entity, regardless of the context.  (42 U.S.C § 12132)… there is nothing in the language of the ADA suggesting a governmental function must be expressly enumerated to fall within its scope… the Department of Justice regulations and technical assistance manual confirms our interpretation of the plain language of the statute, and that the ADA’s antidiscrimination prohibition extends to all actions of state and local governments…”  (San Diego Unified Port Dist. V. Gallagher (1998) 62 Cal.App. 4th 501)

11. On December 5, 2003, David Yamasaki, Assistant Executive Officer, San Diego Superior Court, North County Center, stated in a letter to plaintiff (with a copy to William C. Vickrey, Director, Administrative Office of the Courts) that the San Diego Superior Court due to “an enormous budget crisis” is intentionally not acting “as contemplated by the Americans with Disabilities Act.”  (Exhibit No. 5)

a. Mr. Yamasaki’s “enormous budget crisis” excuse for intentionally violating the ADA is a lame pretext.  This Court has never applied its will or resources to even attempt to comply with the ADA, especially during the halcyon years of the 1990’s, during which government entities enjoyed enormous surpluses.

b. Additionally, a review of other California Superior Court websites reveals that many of them, including Orange, San Francisco, Kern, Sonoma and Alameda Counties are currently attempting substantial compliance despite the “enormous budget crisis.”  Their budgetary process affirmatively implements ADA mandates.  The San Diego Court's non-compliance reflects the importance of optional expenditures (e.g., judges' travel and other perquisites) over ADA mandates to accommodate disabled litigants. 

c. In January, 1997, the Judicial Council’s subcommittee on Access for Persons with Disabilities conducted a survey of Court Users, Attorneys and Court personnel.  The Survey’s Qualitative Interview with a member of the San Diego Superior Court’s Committee for Persons with Disabilities in San Diego County elicited a troubling 

conclusion:

“Unfortunately the old way of doing things continues.  No deep thinking/attention has been done beyond the superficial physical access issue.  Locally, the court administration hasn’t given such matters deep thought.”

d. Evidently, the present San Diego Superior Court’s “deep thought” resulted in abolishing this Committee in order to permit judges and the Court to violate the civil rights of disabled litigants and attorneys without detection, without scrutiny and without remedy.

e. Although the San Diego Superior Court ADA Coordinator position is presently occupied by Ms. Kathy Abbott (who also writes grants), Mr. Yamasaki advised plaintiff not to contact her until next summer, when it can be determined whether the Court will choose to implement legally required ADA mandates.  Misuse of ADA specific funding constitutes fraud.

f. Mr. Yamasaki reiterated Judge Strauss’ position in his December 5, 2003 letter to plaintiff in which he confirmed that Judge Strauss' duties do not include a responsibility to investigate charges of bias, prejudice and discrimination against disabled persons by a judicial colleague, opining that:

“His duties are set forth in California Rule of Court, Rule 6.603. 

 I can only confirm that this information is correct.”

g. Both Mr. Yamasaki (at the Superior Court) and Mr. Vickrey (at the Administrative Office of the Court) believe that compliance with the ADA, California Government Code 12926.1 and other disability laws by Judges and Court staff is optional, not mandatory.  If ADA compliance is optional, then all Judges' compliance with Canon 3 (B)(5) and (6) is optional.  Judge Nugent’s bias and prejudice are officially condoned, although they violate the policy of the Judicial Council of California, and the policy of its Committee on Access and Fairness.

h. Presiding Judge Strauss’ membership on the Judicial Council of California, given his express statement that it is not his duty to investigate complaints of prejudice and bias against another judge, (in violation of San Diego local court rules and Canons of Judicial Ethics) provides de facto evidence that Judicial Council written policies and rules against bias, prejudice and discrimination in the California State Courts are fraudulent misrepresentations to the public.

i. Plaintiff has relied on Judicial Council Policies and Court rules to her detriment, which has caused unconscionable duress and substantial injury.   

B. Judge Nugent Acted Unjudicially in Denying Plaintiff’s Peremptory Challenge Pursuant to CCP § 170.6
1. On December 3, 2003, plaintiff submitted her Peremptory Challenge of Judge Nugent to Judge Nugent.  On December 5, 2003, Judge Nugent denied plaintiff’s challenge.  (Exhibit No. 6)

2. Pursuant to San Diego Superior Court Local Rules, Division II, Rule 5.5, plaintiff was required to use form “SDSC CIV-249 (Rev. 5-00) to file her peremptory challenge.  

3. CCP § 170.6(3) states that:

“…if the motion is duly presented and the affidavit or declaration… is duly filed… thereupon and without any further act or proof…” a judge should refer the case for reassignment.

4. Although Judge Nugent denied plaintiff’s challenge, the local court’s form does not expressly provide a section in which the judge must state his reason(s) for denial.  Judge Nugent did not state any reasons for his summary denial on the peremptory challenge form.

5. Judge Nugent did, however, strike a statement on the local court form by drawing a line through the entire statement.  The statement states:

“This case is referred to Presiding/Supervising Department for re-assignment and a Notice will be mailed to counsel.”

6. Attached to plaintiff’s Peremptory Challenge form was plaintiff’s Motion and Declaration/Exhibits to disqualify Presiding Judge Strauss and Supervising Judge Weber for cause, should Judge Nugent grant plaintiff’s challenge.

7. CCC § 170.6 (3) states that:

“…In other cases, the trial of the cause or the hearing of the matter shall be assigned or transferred to another judge… or if there is not other judge… the Chair of the Judicial Council shall assign some other judge… to try the matter as promptly as possible.”

8. Judge Nugent, by striking the form’s statement, violated § 170.6 (3) by refusing to refer the denial of the peremptory challenge to another judge to reassign and/or to hear the matter.

9. "'Trial judges have no authority to issue courtroom local rules which conflict with any statute’ or are ‘inconsistent with law.'"  (Rutherford v Owens-Illinois Inc (1997) 16 Cal.4th 953, 67)  Judge Nugent's personal rules violate state and federal law.   

10. On December 8, 2003, Judge Nugent struck plaintiff's Motion to Disqualify Judges in its entirety, stating that such motion is without precedent in "California jurisprudence." 

a. Judge Nugent's December 8, 2003 Order striking plaintiff's Motion disclosed for the first time that plaintiff's peremptory challenge had been denied on the grounds that it was "untimely."  Judge Nugent's December 5, 2003 denial of plaintiff's Peremptory Challenge neither stated nor made any reference to "untimely."  

b. Plaintiff would not have known why Judge Nugent had denied her peremptory challenge had she not filed her Motion to Disqualify Judges Weber and Strauss.  Cognizant that Judge Nugent might seize upon "timeliness" as a pretext to deny her Peremptive Challenge, on August 4, 2003, plaintiff reserved her right to make a peremptory challenge. Plaintiff's challenge was contingent upon Judge Strauss' investigation of Judge Nugent.  Judge Strauss refused to investigate or to refer the matter for investigation.  

c. Plaintiff's challenge was timely, as she was forced to discover facts by enduring Judge Nugent's endless gauntlet of coercion, retaliation and discrimination.

d. Plaintiff's Peremptory Challenge and Motion to Disqualify Judges Weber and Strauss merely reflect factual findings of the existence and encouragement of blatant bias, prejudice,  discrimination, duress, coercion and retaliation by Judges and the Court against the against disabled litigants. 

e. Plaintiff renews her Motion to Disqualify Judges for Cause and Declaration of Jacquelyn Finney/Exhibits in Support of Motion stricken by Judge Nugent and incorporates all facts made therein into her Statement of Disqualification.

f. Judges Strauss and Weber continue to violate the local court's policy against bias, California Rule of Court 989.3, and the Americans with Disabilities Act.  Absent their disqualification, these judges and their colleagues on the San Diego Superior Court will assure that retaliatory reassignment occurs in plaintiff's case in order to attempt to extend their cover-up of discriminatory animus against plaintiff and all disabled litigants.

g.  The records and files in plaintiff's case prove an unprecedented, covert policy of "JURISPREJUDICE" in the California courts.

11. On November 22, 2003, the same day that plaintiff's complaint to Assistant Court Executive David Yamasaki was delivered, Judge Nugent retaliated by setting the Initial Case Management Conference for December 19, 2003 (14 months subsequent to the filing of this case), after having refused all of plaintiff's previous numerous requests for in-person hearings on all past motions without explanation.

12. Solely on his own purported authority, Judge Nugent continues his assignment of plaintiff's case.  Plaintiff has submitted three complaints of bias against this judge, in addition to two requests for disability accommodation and a peremptory challenge.  Judge Nugent's continued assignment of plaintiff's case violates her U.S. and California Constitution and ADA rights. 

13. Judge Nugent's actions violate Canons 2 and 3 of the California Code of Judicial Conduct, which provide that a "judge should perform the duties of judicial office impartially…"

14. "Statutes governing disqualification for cause are intended to ensure public confidence in the judiciary and to protect the right of litigants to a fair and impartial adjudicator – not to safeguard an asserted right, privilege or preference of a judge to try or hear a particular dispute."  (Curle v. Superior Court (Gleason) (2001) 24 Cal.4th 1057, 103)

C. Judge Nugent Has Rendered His Ruling on Demurrer "INEXPLICABLE"
1. On December 5, 2003, by telephone, plaintiff met and conferred with defendants' counsel Patricia Sturdevant, as required by California Rule of Court 212.

2. Plaintiff opined that Judge Nugent's Ruling on her Motion for Reconsideration (October 9, 2003) stated that all facts he had found to support a cause of action in his ruling on demurrer (February 20, 2003) were "extraneous" and that plaintiff had "misinterpreted" the Court's "clearly stated" ruling.

3. Plaintiff stated to Ms. Sturdevant that she did not know how Judge Nugent could find that there is a cause of action at present, when he had rescinded his declaration of facts to support his prior Ruling.  Plaintiff asked if she saw it any differently.

4. Ms. Sturdevant agreed with plaintiff.  She stated that her concern is that "we seem to be spinning our wheels," adding that "we're stuck on how we make discovery."

5. Ms. Sturdevant stated that plaintiff requires things from defendants on her position, before she can respond to defendants' interrogatories and inspection demand.  Ms. Sturdevant added, "in the mean time this case is languishing."

6. Both Ms. Sturdevant and plaintiff assumed that plaintiff's peremptory challenge would be granted and that another judge would be able to issue clear rulings to end the "languishing."

7. Ms. Sturdevant asked whether plaintiff wanted to bring this matter to the judge's attention on the Case Management Statement, which plaintiff agreed to do and did.

8. Ms. Sturdevant stated that the Court's February 20, 2003 ruling on defendants' demurrer, in light of the Court's October 9, 2003 ruling on plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration, rendered the former ruling "inexplicable."  Plaintiff agreed.  Ms. Sturdevant so notified the Court in defendants' Case Management Statement. 

9. However, given the totality of Judge Nugent's conduct in this litigation, his rulings are clearly explicable, as they do not conform to the U.S./California Constitutions, federal and state law and rulings of courts of superior jurisdiction and are prejudiced, biased, discriminatory and unconscionable violations of plaintiff's Constitutional and civil rights. 

10. Judge Nugent cited no authority in his October 9, 2003 ruling that supports rendering statements made in his February 20, 2003 (8 ½ months earlier) "extraneous."  His ruling on demurrer is a classic "bait and switch" fraud, which would not have been discovered, had plaintiff not been a person of extraordinary firmness in pursuit of her U.S. and California Constitutional rights.

11. Judge Nugent's refusal to disclose his after-the-fact justifications for his prior rulings constitutes a pattern, which includes:

a. On December 5, 2003 Judge Nugent denied plaintiff's peremptory challenge without stating grounds for denial.

b. On December 8, 2003 Judge Nugent denied and struck plaintiff's Motion to Disqualify Judges, disclosing that plaintiff's peremptory challenge had been denied on the grounds that is was "untimely."

c.   Had plaintiff not moved to disqualify Judges Strauss and Weber, she would not have known Judge Nugent's grounds for denial.

12. "'When the record clearly demonstrates what the trial court did, we will not presume it did something different'… we are confident that if that is what Judge Golden meant, he knew how to say it."  (Paterno v. State of California (2003) Cal.App.4th)  Judge Nugent has a clear pattern of discriminatory conduct, which he is attempting to cover up by after-the-fact pretexts, to justify his conduct, which have no basis in fact or law. 

13. Plaintiff's caregiver personally submitted plaintiff's Second Request for Accommodations (Form MC-410) to the Court on December 11, 2003.  (Exhibit No. 7)

a. Plaintiff attempted to comply with his illegal "specificity" requirement.

b. Plaintiff requested that the Initial Case Management Conference be continued, as she cannot meaningfully participate and that she will be put at risk of osteoporotic fracture from an episode of increased pain and fatigue.

c. On December 5, 2003, plaintiff had notified the Court that this accommodation may be required.

d. As of the date of this document (12/17/2003 at 1:00 p.m.), Judge Nugent has failed to provide his response, if any, to plaintiff's request for accommodation.

e. Ignoring plaintiff's request is illegal and represents additional undisputed evidence of discriminatory animus intended to cause unconscionable duress in that plaintiff is subject to sanctions for non-attendance. 

14. Judge Nugent's and his colleagues' bias validates arguments made in briefs to the U.S. Supreme Court in Tennessee v. Lane, which will be argued in the U.S. Supreme Court on January 14, 2003. 

a. When state judges discriminate against plaintiff, as a disabled litigant in violation of her ADA rights, these judges also violate plaintiff's Constitutional rights to access the courts and to exercise her U.S. and California Constitutional right to speak to her doctors without unconscionable prior restraint on speech as a precondition to obtain state mandated and contract health care benefits (plaintiff's litigation cause of action).

b. Judges Nugent, Weber and Strauss have intentionally put plaintiff's health and safety at risk for over a year by their discriminatory animus.

15. Judge Nugent's prejudice, coercion and retaliation are clearly reflected by his "inexplicable" rulings.  His rulings resemble "inexplicable," rulings made by the Duchess, regarding Alice's complaints, as written in Alice in Wonderland:
"… and the moral of that is – 'Be what you would seem to be' – or, if you'd like to put it more simply – 'Never imagine yourself not to be otherwise that what it might appear to others that what you were or might have been was not otherwise than what you had been would have appeared to them to be otherwise.'"  

16. The existence and cover-up of discriminatory animus against disabled litigants is a cancer on the California courts.  Three California judges and State and San Diego Court Executives have transformed the California Code of Civil Procedure and California Rules of Court into a "gauntlet," which disabled litigants are unconscionably forced to endure under duress in order to exercise their Constitutional and civil rights.  Such unconscionability should shock the judicial instinct.

Dated, December 17, 2003


______________________________








Jacquelyn Finney, Plaintiff








In Pro Per

VERIFICATION

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

I, the undersigned, say:

I have read the foregoing verified Statement of Disqualification and know its contents.

I am the plaintiff and petitioner in this action.  The matters stated in it are true of my own knowledge except as to those matters which are stated on information and belief, and as to those matters I believe them to be true.

Executed on December 17, 2003, at Encinitas, California.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

_____________________________

Jacquelyn Finney

LIST OF EXHIBITS
Exhibit No. 1:
August 4, 2003, J. Finney Letter to Richard E. L. Strauss

Exhibit No. 2:
August 15, 2003, J. Finney Letter to Richard E. L. Strauss

Exhibit No. 3:
September 18, 2003, R. E. L. Strauss Letter to J. Finney

Exhibit No. 4:
October 31, 2003, J. Finney Request for Accommodation, Judge Thomas P. Nugent

Exhibit No. 5:
December 5, 2003, David Yamasaki Letter to J. Finney

Exhibit No. 6:
December 3, 2003, J. Finney Peremptory Challenge, 

Judge Thomas P. Nugent. 

Exhibit No. 7:
December 11, 2003, J. Finney Second Request for Accommodation, Judge Thomas P. Nugent
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